RECEIVED

AUG 15 2014

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO.: 2009-CP-15-0595

THE SPRIGGS GROUP, P.C., Respondent,

GENE R. SLIVKA,Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER IN SUPPORT OF
WRIT FOR CERTIORARI**

Robert T. Lyles, Jr.
Lyles & Lyles, LLC
342 East Bay Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 577-7730
Email: rtl@lylesfirm.com
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PETITIONER AS TO THE RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN CLAIM BECAUSE THE RESPONDENT'S LIEN WAS NOT TIMELY AS A MATTER OF LAW.
2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PETITIONER AS TO THE RESPONDENT'S CLAIM PURSUANT TO *S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-1-15*. BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS UNDISPUTED THAT AN INVESTIGATION HAD TAKEN PLACE INTO THE RESPONDENT'S CLAIM IN THE FORM OF FORMAL DISCOVERY, NO PORTION OF THE CLAIM WAS UNDISPUTED, AND THE PETITIONER HAD ALREADY DEPOSITED AN AMOUNT WHICH EXCEEDED THE ENTIRE CLAIM WITH THE COURT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter stems from a dispute between the Petitioner, Mr. Gene R. Slivka, ("Slivka") and the Respondent, The Spriggs Group, PC, ("Spriggs") regarding the provision of architectural services for Slivka's home and several outbuildings on property located in Colleton County known and often referred to as "New Julianton Plantation." The buildings include the main house, a conservatory with attached potting shed, a grotto, a stable, and two garages, all in historical style. Spriggs provided architectural services pursuant to a written agreement included in a letter prepared by Spriggs dated November 17, 2006, (hereinafter "Fee Agreement"). (R. pp. 346-353) The Fee Agreement states that it includes a fee proposal to complete the architectural and engineering work, with restrictions and limitations noted, and sets forth a fee of \$161,500.00 (which the parties do not dispute was later modified to \$151,402.00). *Id.* It is uncontested that, pursuant to the terms of the Fee Agreement, Slivka paid one half of the fee at the outset of the project. The balance was to be paid at the conclusion of the project.

Dissatisfied with Spriggs' services, in December, 2008, Slivka picked up his remaining drawings and told Spriggs that he did not want any more drawings. (R. p. 265, lines 20-25) In

February, 2009, Slivka was presented with invoices numbered 0609-2, 0609-3, 0609-4, and 0609-5, all dated February 9, 2009, which total \$198,834.53 (altogether the “February 9, 2009 Invoice”) and which reflect work ostensibly done by Spriggs in 2006, 2007 and 2008. This was significantly more than double the agreed upon balance called for in the Fee Agreement. (R. pp. 354-363) Included were charges for tasks and work that had been performed by Spriggs for over two years and which had never been billed. Further, Spriggs admitted that he had not advised Slivka that he was incurring charges for work outside of what Spriggs believed to be the scope of work contemplated by the Fee Agreement. (R. p. 202 lines 9-23) Id.

A. MECHANICS LIEN

Slivka disputed the additional charges. Spriggs subsequently filed a mechanic’s lien on April 13, 2009, in the amount of \$198,834.53, which is the total of the February 9, 2009 Invoice. (R. pp. 376-386), which were attached to the Affidavit of Account filed in support of the mechanics lien: The Affidavit of Account made no reference to charges for any work ostensibly done in 2009. Id.

To release the encumbrance on his property, on May 12, 2009, Slivka posted a bond to release the mechanic’s lien in the amount of \$265,112.71, an amount equal to one and one-third the amount of the recorded lien. (R. pp. 387-391). On May 21, 2009, Spriggs issued an additional invoice, Invoice 0509-6, for services regarding an appraisal which were ostensibly performed by Spriggs in May, 2009 related to help he gave to an appraiser who was doing work for a boarder of Slivka. (R. p. 364) On July 8, 2009, Spriggs brought suit to foreclose on its mechanic’s lien. (R. pp. 31-54) Through counsel, Slivka answered and initiated counterclaims, including slander of title, based on the untimeliness of the lien, since the work referenced in the February 9, 2009, invoices had all been done more than 90 days before the notice of lien was

served. (R. pp. 55-67) Subsequently, on November 16, 2009, and in what was obviously an effort to cure the defect in the timing of the lien, Spriggs issued yet another invoice, Invoice 0609-7, for work described as "Construction Phase Services and which were allegedly done in the time period January 1-13, 2009. (R. p. 365).

On June 30, 2011, Slivka made a formal offer to settle the matter in the amount of \$100,000.00, pursuant to the procedures in the Mechanic's Lien Statute, the statutory relief selected by Spriggs when it filed its mechanic's lien action. (R. p. 461) Spriggs made no response other than to file a Motion to Strike the offer, which was denied. (R. pp. 462-464)

B. DEMAND PURSUANT TO § 27-1-15

In 2009 the parties engaged in the initial discovery phase of the case, in which Spriggs claimed Slivka owed money and in which Slivka disputed the amount owed and contended that he was owed money because of Spriggs defective mechanics lien and because of defects in the plans. On March 15, 2010, over nine months after litigation had commenced and in the midst of discovery, Spriggs sent Slivka, and his prior counsel, a demand for payment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 27-1-15. (R. pp. 366-375) Slivka, having answered Spriggs' complaint and being engaged in discovery with Spriggs, did not formally respond to the demand letter. On May 5, 2010, Spriggs amended his complaint to add a cause of action for Failure to Comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 27-1-1,5 Enforcement of Claim Against Mechanic's Lien Bond, Breach of Contract, Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Acts, and Unjust Enrichment/Quantum Meruit. (R. pp. 68-93) Slivka again answered denying liability and asserting alleging counterclaims. (R. pp. 94-104)

C. EVIDENCE AT TRIAL

Spriggs presented two and a half days of testimony in which it asserted that the additional

charges reflected in its invoices were made due to changes and demands of Slivka and were justified by the Fee Agreement. Mr. Thomas Bozeman,, an employee of Spriggs, testified that items that were not contemplated by the scope of the original agreement were billed pursuant to the Fee Agreement. (R. p. 201, line 5- p. 202, line 8) The Fee Agreement provides in Paragraph 18, that “[Spriggs] will provide any requested construction phase services by the project architect or staff on an hourly basis.” (R. p. 350) In Paragraph 19, it further provides that “Once we begin construction documents, any changes in room layouts, sizes, window locations, door locations and exterior elevation design will be performed on an hourly basis.” Id. Invoice 0609-2 states that it is for “design and preparation of final drawings” but indicates an amount due of \$163,574.00, an amount in excess of \$85,000.00 over the remaining balance of the agreed upon fee. (R. pp. 354-363) Mr. Ken Spriggs testified Invoice 0609-02 was not calculated on an hourly basis, as required by the Fee Agreement, but by a “formula” charging for additional work by the sheet. (R. p. 274, line 12 - p. 277, line 19 and pp. 354-363) Mr. Bozeman admitted that he did not advise Slivka when he was performing tasks not covered by the original scope of services, or that he was going to bill him extra for it. (R. p. 202, lines 9-23) In response, Slivka asserted the position that items that Spriggs claims were additional were or should have been contemplated when the original agreement was made.

Mr. Andy Bozeman of The Spriggs Group admitted that what was basic and what was additional (with the exception of preparation of drawings for a retaining wall) was completely subjective. (R. p. 204, lines 3-17) Slivka testified that with the exception of charges related to a construction meeting and the design of a garden wall, neither Spriggs nor Bozeman ever told him that items he requested did not fall within the fee contemplated in the original agreement. (R. p. 298, lines 15-20) He testified that Spriggs decided what the charges were and did not inform him

of them for two years. (R. p. 301, lines 13-25)

Mr. Scott Harvey, an expert on architectural standards and practices, testified on behalf of Spriggs. (R. p. 309, line 25 - p. 310, line 22) Harvey offered the opinion that an architect who fails to inform an owner that he has requested something that falls outside of the original scope of work has violated rules of professional conduct and the applicable standard of care. (R. p. 311, lines 4-23)

Slivka testified that in response to the mechanic's lien he had to borrow \$265,000.00 to bond off the lien, as it clouded the title to his property, (R. p. 125, lines 9-23) and that he had paid roughly \$50,000.00 in interest over a three year period. Id. This was required as the mechanic's lien filed by Spriggs affected not only his home, but all property that he owned. Id.

Following appropriate motions, which are discussed below, the matter was submitted to the jury. After deliberations, the jury found for Spriggs on the causes of action of foreclosure of mechanic's lien, breach of contract, and claims under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-1-15. (R. p. 333) The jury found for Spriggs as to Slivka's slander of title claim. Id. The jury awarded Slivka \$173,990.53 in actual damages. (R. p. 334). Both parties reserved the right to make post-trial motions within ten days.

D. VALIDITY OF SLIVKA CLAIM

Spriggs tried on numerous occasions to obtain judgment against Slivka as a matter of law, but all of those motions were denied. Spriggs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 31, 2011, which was denied. (R. pp. 453-40 and 438-447). At the close of the Spriggs' case at trial, Slivka and Spriggs made cross-motions for directed verdict as to the claim under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-1-15. (R. p. 285 line 7 - p. 290, line3) Those motions were denied on the basis that a question of fact existed as to Slivka's liability under that statute.

Following Slivka's case, Spriggs moved for a directed verdict as to Slivka's slander of title action, based upon Slivka's position that the lien was timely. (R. p. 314, lines 1-20) That motion was denied. Id. Slivka also renewed his directed verdict motions as to the claim under § 27-1-15 and the Mechanic's Lien Statute, (R. p. 315, line 4- p. 318, line 9) which were both denied.

Slivka also moved for a directed verdict regarding the timeliness of the lien (R. p. 290, line 4 - p. 294, line 17), and as to Spriggs' breach of contract action. (R. p. 295, line 1 - p. 297, line 15). All motions were denied (R. p. 297, lines 16-23) Over Slivka's objections, the trial judge ruled that both causes of action would be submitted to the jury. (R. p. 318, line 12 - p. 319, line 14).

In summary, after all appropriate motions were made by each party, the Court declined to rule on any remaining aspect of the claim as a matter of law, and submitted the claims of both Spriggs and Slivka to the jury.

E. POST TRIAL MOTIONS/ATTORNEYS' FEES

Slivka made his post-trial motions on August 1, 2011. (R. pp. 522-535) The grounds for said motion included that Slivka was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Spriggs's mechanic's lien because it was not timely and that Slivka was entitled to judgment, as a matter of law, on the grounds that when Spriggs's claim under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-1-15 was made, the lawsuit was pending, discovery was on-going and that Slivka had paid an amount equal to one and one third of the lien in the form of a bond with the court. Id. That motion was denied. (R. pp. 4-13) Slivka filed a Rule 59(e), *SCRCP* motion asking the court to alter, amend or reconsider its order. (R. pp. 567-573) That motion was also denied. (R. pp. 24-25)

Spriggs moved the court for attorneys' fees, costs, and interest based on both S.C. Code Ann. § 27-1-15 and the Mechanic's Lien Statute. (R. pp. 465-521) Spriggs asked for all attorneys' fees, costs, and prejudgment interest beginning from the date that invoices were sent to

Slivka in February, 2009. Id. Slivka filed a memorandum in opposition to said motion on the grounds that the fees, costs and interest sought by Spriggs were not legally supportable by statute and were excessive. (R. pp. 536-554) The Court awarded Spriggs attorneys' fees and costs in the amount of \$235,030.31 and prejudgment interest in the amount of \$37,413.92, thus ordering that a judgment in the total amount of \$446,434.76 be entered against Slivka. (R. pp. 14-18) Slivka filed a motion to reconsider said order. (R. pp. 576-586) That motion was denied. (R. pp. 26-30)

Slivka filed a Notice of Appeal on December 2, 2011. The matter was briefed and argued before the Court of Appeals on January 10, 2013 which issued an order on February 6, 2013. In the order, the Court of Appeals remanded the attorneys' fee award back to the Circuit Court. The Court of Appeals also found that submission of the mechanic's lien claim to the jury was in error but held that the error was harmless since the lien was timely, affirming the Circuit Court. The Court of Appeals also held that Slivka had failed to preserve its rights with regard to Spriggs' claim pursuant to § 27-1-15. Slivka filed a Petition for Rehearing on February 21, 2013 which was denied by order dated March 22, 2013. Slivka filed his Petition for Writ of Certiorari on April 19, 2013 which was granted by Order dated July 14, 2014.

ARGUMENT

1. BECAUSE SPRIGGS' LIEN WAS NOT TIMELY THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT MUST BE REVERSED AND THE ENTIRE MATTER REMANDED.

When a party files a notice of lien under § 29-5-90 he is asserting that at a time within ninety (90) days before the notice, he has performed "labor" for which he is entitled to assert a lien. Preferred Savings and Loan Association, Inc., v. Royal Garden Resort, Inc., 301 S.C. 1, 4, 389 S.E.2d 853, 854 (S Ct 1990). In this case, Spriggs did not perform work fitting the definition of

“labor” under the Mechanic’s Lien Statute in the ninety day period before notice of the lien was provided to Slivka. In an effort to make Spriggs’ claim under the mechanic’s lien statute timely, the trial court and the Court of Appeals failed to apply the statute’s definition of “labor” as it was written by the legislature. Instead, the lower courts expanded the definition of labor to include off site contract administration services purportedly performed by Spriggs in January, 2009. This was in error. Strictly applying the statute, as it is written by the legislature, makes it clear that, as a matter of law, Spriggs did not perform services which meet the statutorily provided definition of “labor” within 90 days of serving notice of the lien. Therefore, his claim was untimely and the verdict in favor of Spriggs must be reversed and the entire matter remanded for entry of judgment in favor of Slivka with respect to the mechanic’s lien claim and a trial on the remaining issues in the case, including Slivka’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs.

A. ACTIVITIES PERFORMED BY THE RESPONDENT IN JANUARY, 2009, DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF LABOR ENTITLING ONE TO A LIEN SET FORTH IN THE MECHANIC’S LIEN STATUTE.

For purposes of the timeliness of the lien, Spriggs must have provided “labor” actually used in the erection, alteration, or repair of Slivka’s buildings on or after January 13, 2009. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-90 (the “Act”) . For design professionals, the statute specifically provides as follows:

As used in this section, **labor** performed or furnished in the erection, alteration, or repair of any building or structure upon any real estate **includes the preparation of plans, specifications, and design drawings** and the work of making the real estate suitable as a site for the building or structure. The work is considered to include, but not be limited to, the grading, bulldozing, leveling, excavating, and filling of land (including the furnishing of fill soil), the grading and paving of curbs and sidewalks and all asphalt paving, the construction of ditches and other drainage facilities, and the laying of pipes and conduits for water, gas, electric, sewage, and drainage purposes, and the disposal of any construction and demolition debris, as defined in Section 44-96-40(6), including final disposal by a construction and demolition landfill. Any private security guard services provided by any person at the site of

the building or structure during its erection, alteration, or repair is considered to be labor performed or furnished within the meaning of this section. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10 (emphasis added).

Critical to this appeal, the statute does not include “contract administration services” in its definition of labor, which certainly makes sense as there are an infinite number of tasks an architect could perform in connection with a job, from meeting with the client or others about the project, to inspecting or photographing the project during construction, to reviewing pay applications, none of which can be said to have “been used in the erection, alteration or repair” of a building. Simply stated, an architect who is preparing design plans, drawings and specifications is considered to be performing labor under the Act, where one who is conferencing with people by phone from the office is not.

On November 16, 2009, (seven months after Spriggs’ lien was first filed and four months after this action was commenced) Spriggs sent Slivka Invoice 0609-7. With that invoice, Slivka was advised, for the first time, that Spriggs performed work described as “Construction Phase Services” between the dates of January 1-13, 2009. (R. p. 365)

The testimony and evidence at trial confirm that Spriggs did not prepare plans, specifications or drawings in 2009. Bozeman testified that in January, 2009, he performed “construction administration services.” (R. p. 198, lines 1-20) Specifically, he answered a call from a plumbing subcontractor. (R. p. 199) He also communicated with a mechanical engineer and answered questions regarding concrete cracks. Id. None of this work was performed on site as Bozeman never viewed the construction of the main house on site. (R. p. 205, lines 14-19) Ken Spriggs, principal of The Spriggs Group, described work performed by Bozeman during this time as “general coordination.” (R. p. 264) Spriggs also testified that his own activities

performed in January, 2009, were related to construction administration. Id. He did not prepare any plans, specifications or design drawings during this time. He admitted that in December, 2008, Slivka had told him that he did not want any more drawings and that he picked up the last of his drawings. (R. p. 265, lines 20-25) Like Bozeman, Spriggs testified that in January, 2009, he participated in answering the phone calls from the plumbing and framing subcontractor. (R. p. 230-231) The last time Spriggs was on site was in 2007 or 2008. (R. p. 267) He acknowledged that he was not directing work of the construction at any time. Id.

Notwithstanding the fact that the work at issue was not “the preparation of plans, specifications or design drawings, “the trial court denied Slivka’s motions, relying on the case Williamson v. Hotel Melrose, 110 S.C. 1, 96 S.E. 407 (S.Ct. 1918). (R. pp. 4-13) Reliance on this case was in error.

In Williamson, the Court specifically sought to determine whether the scope of the mechanic’s lien statute included the services of an architect. The statute in existence at the time afforded a lien to “any person to whom a debt is due for labor performed or furnished.” Id. at 411. It did not define labor as “the preparation of plans, specifications and design drawings” as the Act now does. In the absence of that definition, the Williamson Court found that the architect who had furnished plans and specifications, and who had “superintended” the construction of the project, had performed labor within the meaning of that version of the statute. Id.

Since Williamson, the legislature has provided a definition of “labor” to include “the preparation of plans, specifications and design drawings” which are some of the services typically provided by an architect” as well as many other services typically provided by an architect, such as “contract administration,” “construction phase services,” were not included in the definition of labor.

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is for the Court to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." River woods, LLC, v. County of Charleston, 349 S.C. 378, 563 S.E.2d 651 (S.Ct. 2002), citing Grant v. City of Folly Beach, 346 S.C. 74, 551 S.E.2d 229 (S.Ct. 2001). "The canon of construction '*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*' or '*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*' holds that 'to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.'" Id. Citing, Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 86, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (S.Ct. 2000). Had the legislature decided to include off-site administration services that a design professional may perform in its definition of "labor" it could have done so but did not. Therefore a correct construction of the statute would lead to the conclusion that the work performed by Spriggs was not within the definition of "labor" as defined by the legislature for the purposes of the Mechanic's Lien Statute.

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