**ORIGINAL**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

APR 21 2014

R. Lawton McIntosh, Presiding Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Opinion No. 4947 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed February 29, 2012)

Ferguson Fire and Fabrication, Inc.

Plaintiff,

v.

Preferred Fire Protection, LLC; Fair Forest of  
Greenville, LLC, Thomas F. Wong, and Immedion, LLC

Defendants,

Of Whom Ferguson Fire and Fabrication, Inc. is

Petitioner,

and Immedion, LLC is

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2012-212191

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Ronald G. Tate, Jr., Esq.  
Zachary L. Weaver, Esq.  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals held that the Notice of Furnishing issued by the Petitioner in this case was ineffective under S.C. Code Annotated § 29-5-40 because it “was sent prior to furnishing all the material, failed to identify the final amounts of the goods delivered, and never made a demand for payment.” *Ferguson Fire & Fabrication v. Preferred Fire Protection, LLC*, 397 S.C. 379, 386, 725 S.E.2d 495, 499 (Ct. App. 2012). As discussed below and contrary to Petitioner's arguments, the appellate court did not add any requirements to the statutes and instead simply applied the requirements set forth in section 29-5-40 and case law. Furthermore, the appellate court's ruling is consistent with logic, policy, and the specific facts of this case. Accordingly, the ruling below should be affirmed.

**I. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Circuit Court's ruling that the Notice of Furnishing provided to Respondent was ineffective as a notice of lien under S.C. Code Annotated § 29-5-40.**

Petitioner contends that (1) a notice of lien under section 29-5-40 only requires notice in writing that apprises the owner of the value of goods or services to be provided; (2) its Notice of Furnishing issued to Respondent met all the requirements of a notice of lien under section 29-5-40; and (3) the Court of Appeals improperly added requirements that were not in section 29-5-40. The contentions fail upon analysis of the terms of the statute and the facts of this case.

***A. Section 29-5-40 requires more than Petitioner contends.***

As an initial matter, the requirements of section 29-5-40 are more stringent and substantive than Petitioner argues. Section 29-5-40 provides:

Whenever ***work is done or material is furnished*** for the improvement of real estate upon the employment of a contractor or some other person than the owner and such laborer, mechanic, contractor or ***materialman shall in writing notify the owner of the furnishing of such labor or material and the amount or value thereof, the lien given by Section 29-5-20 shall attach*** upon the real estate improved as against the true owner ***for the amount of the work done or material furnished***. But in no event shall the aggregate amount of liens set up hereby exceed the amount due by the owner on the contract price of the improvement made.

(emphasis added). It is well-established that “[w]ords used in a statute should be given their plain and ordinary meaning . . . .” *Taylor Cotton & Ridley, Inc. v. Okatie Hotel Group, LLC*, 372 S.C. 89, 97, 641 S.E.2d 459, 462 (Ct. App. 2007). The plain language of section 29-5-40 provides three requirements:

- (1) that notice be given for work that “is done” or material that “is furnished”;
- (2) that the notice provide the value of the “work . . . done” or “material . . . furnished”; and
- (3) that a lien “for the amount of work done or material furnished” exist at the time of issuing the notice so that the lien in that amount attaches.

These requirements are explicit in the statute and mandate more than the notice simply being in writing and providing notice of materials to be delivered and their value. As discussed below, the Notice of Furnishing issued to the Respondent did not meet these statutory requirements. Accordingly, the Notice of Furnishing was ineffective under section 29-5-40.

***B. Petitioner's Notice of Furnishing failed to state the materials actually furnished or the value thereof as required by section 29-5-40.***

A mechanic's lien is purely statutory, and the requirements of the statute must be strictly followed. *See Shelley Constr. Co. v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 24, 27, 336 S.E.2d 488, 490 (Ct. App. 1985). Petitioner's standardized Notice of Furnishing did not comply with the terms of section 29-5-40 because it failed to state the materials actually furnished and their value. Instead, the Notice of Furnishing stated that the materials "were actually furnished or scheduled to be furnished by [Petitioner] to the Project from Sep 10, 2007 (sic) through \_\_\_\_\_" and that Petitioner "ha[s] provided or will provide FIRE SPRINKLER/PIPE/VALVES/ FITTINGS with an estimated value of \$15,000." (R. p. 112). Thus, the Notice of Furnishing from Petitioner makes clear that there were materials that were scheduled to be furnished from September 10, 2007, through an indefinite date in the future and that the aggregate amount of materials that were scheduled furnished would equal \$15,000. It is undisputed that at the time of the notice, Petitioner had not delivered all of the materials for which the notice supposedly covered and that the value of the materials furnished did not equal \$15,000. Thus, the Notice of Furnishing did not provide notice of the "material . . . furnished" and the amount thereof at the time issued, but instead for materials to be provided in the future. Accordingly, Petitioner's Notice of Furnishing failed to satisfy the explicit requirements of section 29-5-40, and the Court of Appeals' decision should be affirmed.

Petitioner argues at length that the Court of Appeals erred by finding that the notice was insufficient because all of the materials had not been furnished at the time of the notice. But the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the express terms of the statute. Unlike in other parts of the statutory scheme, section 29-5-40 requires that notice

be given for “material . . . furnished,” not those expected to be or partially furnished. *Compare* S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-20(B)(6) (providing that a notice of furnishing shall include “the date when *the first and last item of labor or service or materials was* actually furnished or *scheduled to be furnished*”) (emphasis added) *with* § 29-5-40 (referring only to “material [that] is furnished”). The Court of Appeals thus properly held that all materials covered by the notice be delivered per the terms of section 29-5-40.<sup>3</sup>

***C. Notice of a prospective lien is legally ineffective under section 29-5-40.***

***i. A lien for the amount in the notice must exist at the time the notice is given.***

The Court of Appeals properly held that the notice issued by Petitioner was insufficient because it failed to identify the final amount of goods delivered because section 29-5-40 does not permit notice of a prospective lien. Per the terms of the statute and case law, a notice of lien must be for an *existing* lien. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-40 (providing that an existing lien “shall attach” for “material [that] is furnished” in “the amount of the work done or material furnished” upon written notification of “the furnishing of such . . . material and the amount or value thereof”); *also Stovall Bldg. Supplies, Inc. v. Mottet*, 305 S.C. 28, 32, 406 S.E.2d 176, 178 (Ct. App. 1990) (stating that “a mechanic’s lien will not attach to the owner’s property unless the owner is given notice *of the claim* of a materialman who contracted with a person other than the owner”) (emphasis added); *Action Concrete Contractors v. Chappellear*, 404 S.C. 312, 315, 745 S.E.2d 77, 78 (2013) (stating that “payment by the owner to the general contractor after the owner has received *notice of the lien* is made at the owner’s peril”) (quoting *Maddux*

---

<sup>3</sup> Petitioner could have complied with the statute by issuing a proper notice for the materials actually delivered and their value and then a subsequent notice for the additional materials delivered. It did not do that, however, rendering the notice invalid.

*Supply Co. v. Safhi, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 404, 412, 450 S.E.2d 101, 106 (Ct. App. 1994)) (emphasis added) (internal quotations omitted).

The Notice of Furnishing in this case, however, was for a lien Petitioner expected but did not yet have. It is axiomatic that a lien only arises for material already furnished. *Preferred Sav. & Loan Ass'n, Inc. v. Royal Garden Resort, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 1, 4, 389 S.E.2d 853, 854 (1990) (“A mechanic’s lien arises, inchoate, when labor is performed or material furnished.”). It cannot be disputed Petitioner did not have an *existing* lien in the amount indicated in the Notice of Furnishing, as it had not in fact delivered that amount of materials. Rather, the notice was for a prospective lien in an amount of materials and value Petitioner intended but had not yet delivered.

Petitioner argues that because a notice of lien is one of a few steps in perfecting a lien, the timing of the delivery of the notice is irrelevant. This fails on two levels. First, this reading runs contrary to the express terms of the statute which require an existing lien be present in the amount stated in the notice. Second, this argument lacks common sense. It defies logic to allow a subcontractor to give notice of a lien under section 29-5-40 when the subcontractor does not actually have a lien in the amount of the notice. Allowing that to occur could cause owners to make payments for work not actually performed. Accordingly, the Notice of Furnishing provided to Respondent was ineffective.

- ii. ***Lowndes* and the statutory history of section 29-5-40 do not provide that a notice of lien may be given prior to delivery of all materials.**

To argue that a notice of lien can be given at any time, including for a lien that does not yet exist, Petitioner relies heavily on *Lowndes Hill Realty Company v.*

*Greenville Concrete Company*, 229 S.C. 619, 93 S.E.2d 855 (1956) and the prior legislative history for section 29-5-40. This reliance is misplaced.

The Court in *Lowndes* analyzed a situation where notice was given *after* delivery of material for a project was completed. The subcontractor in that case furnished materials and then filed a certificate of mechanic's lien and served it on the owner. *Id.* at 623, 93 S.E.2d at 856. The subcontractor did not file a notice of lien. *Id.* The Court nonetheless found that the filing of the certificate of mechanic's lien was sufficient notice for a lien to attach under the precursor statute to section 29-5-40<sup>4</sup> because notification "*of the amount or value of the material furnished*" two times would be "needless duplication." *Id.* at 630, 93 S.E.2d at 860 (emphasis added). Placed in the context of the facts of the case, this Court's pronouncement that the precursor to section 29-5-40 "specifies no time at which or within which notice of the furnishing of material is to be given" makes sense and does not violate the terms of the statute, as it is referring to a situation where the notice refers to material already furnished. *Id.* at 629, 93 S.E. 2d at 860.

Unlike in *Lowndes*, the Notice of Furnishing in this case was not for materials already furnished and the value thereof, but was instead for an unspecified amount of materials scheduled to be furnished that purportedly would equal \$15,000. Respondent was not given notice of the material actually furnished and its value by the Notice of Furnishing. The analysis in *Lowndes* is therefore inapplicable to the facts of this case as it concerned a situation where all materials had been furnished at the time of the notice.

Petitioner also claims that because prior versions of section 29-5-40 required a

---

<sup>4</sup> The precursor statute analyzed in *Lowndes* is substantially identical to the section 29-5-40 and also requires notice be given for "material . . . furnished."

materialman to provide notice of a lien<sup>5</sup> prior to delivery of the goods, the current statutory scheme not having such a requirement expands the time for delivery. Comparing the statutes, however, it is clear that the time for delivery under the current statute is after all materials covered by the notice have been furnished. Under the prior statute, “any subcontractor or person contracting with an original contractor may have such a lien: Provided, That *before performing or furnishing labor or furnishing materials*, or both, he do give notice in writing to the owner of the property to be affected thereby.” Act of February 25, 1896 XXII Stat. at L. 197 (emphasis added). As discussed above, however, the current statute only provides for attachment of a lien upon notice of “*material [that] is furnished.*” S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-40. The change in the statute did not expand the time for delivery of the notice. Rather, the terms of the current statute make clear that delivery of the notice can only be given for material actually furnished.

Petitioner’s arguments ignore the express terms of section 29-5-40. Notice for material that may be furnished, *i.e.*, before a lien exists, is ineffective under the statute. Petitioner did not possess a lien for the materials and amount stated in the Notice of Furnishing at the time the notice was delivered, and section 29-5-40 does not protect Petitioner’s prospective and unenforceable claims. Petitioner’s notice was therefore ineffective.

***D. The Court of Appeal’s application of section 29-5-40 is consistent with the plain language of section 29-5-50.***

The fact that all material must be furnished and that a lien in the amount claimed

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioner actually states that prior versions of the statute required a “Notice of Furnishing” rather than a notice of lien. As discussed below, Petitioner improperly conflates the meaning of a notice of furnishing and a notice of lien, which are distinct statutory creatures.

must exist at the time of the notice under section 29-5-40 is supported by the terms of section 29-5-50. That section provides:

Any person *claiming a lien* under the provisions of this chapter *who shall have given notice provided for herein* shall be entitled to be *paid in preference to the contractor at whose instance the labor was performed or material furnished* and no payment by the owner to the contractor thereafter shall operate to lessen the amount recoverable by the person so giving notice.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-50 (emphasis added). According to this provision, an individual is only entitled to priority if he is claiming an existing lien and has given proper notice under the mechanic's lien statute for "material furnished." The terms of this provision thus confirm the proper interpretation of section 29-5-40.

Furthermore, it is well settled that a materialman's lien is limited by section 29-5-50 to the amount owed by the owner to the contractor at the time that the owner receives notice under section 29-5-40. *Stoudenmire Heating and Air Conditioning, Co. v. Craig Building P'ship*, 308 S.C. 298, 417 S.E.2d 634 (Ct. App. 1992).<sup>6</sup> Under Petitioner's proposed application of section 29-5-40 permitting prospective liens, it would be impossible to measure the owner's true liability at the time of delivery if a notice of lien is only required to provide an "estimated value" of the materials to be provided, as was

---

<sup>6</sup> It should be noted that in prior briefing, including that before the Court of Appeals, Petitioner relied extensively on *Stoudenmire* for the proposition that its Notice of Furnishing constituted adequate notice under section 29-5-40. Its reliance is notably diminished in its Initial Brief filed with this Court. This makes sense given the fact that the notice in that case differed from the Notice of Furnishing issued by Petitioner on two of the most crucial and contested issues - - *i.e.*, the subcontractor in *Stoudenmire* case demanded payment from the owner and had completed its work on the project at the time it gave notice. *See Id.* at 300, 417 S.E.2d at 636; *Ferguson Fire & Fabrication v. Preferred Fire Protection, LLC*, 397 S.C. 379, 387, 725 S.E.2d 495, 499 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding reliance upon *Stoudenmire* "misguided" given that Petitioner's Notice of Furnishing was sent prior to completion of delivery of materials and did not make a demand for payment).

the case here. While the amount due from the owner to the contractor may be readily available when such notice is received, the amount due to the subcontractor would be unclear. This scenario would create several unintended problems and delays in determining the owner's payment duties under section 29-5-50, and the accompanying proration provisions of section 29-5-60. The Court of Appeal's interpretation of section 29-5-40 is consistent with the terms and purpose of section 29-5-50, and its ruling should be affirmed.

**II. The Court of Appeals properly held that a demand for payment is a prerequisite to a notice of lien.**

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